FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/4/2022 3:41 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/5/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101142-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS No. 38208-7-III

THEODORE DENISON, MARTHA DENISON and

GWENEVER (KIRA) LOREN SAPIER,

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

V.

SPENCER GORMAN, DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT

APPELLANTS'PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

THOMAS J. FARRELL, WSBA # 40713 Attorney for Appellants

> Farrell Law Office, PS 921 W. Broadway Ave., Ste. 301 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 326-8387

IV. Statement of the Case
1. Statement of Facts
2. Statement of Procedure
3. Superior Court Verbatim Report of Proceedings8
4. Court of Appeals9
V. Argument - Why the Court Should Accept Review10
VI. Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

PAGES

CASES

Ahten v. Barnes, 158 Wn.App. 343, 242 P.3d 35 (Div. 1, 2010)
Allen v. Starr, 104 Wn. 246, 176 P. 2 (1918) 16
Burlingame v. Consol. Mines & Smelting Co., 106 Wn.2d 328,
722 P.2d 67 (1986) 12, 27
Castellon v. Rodriguez, 4 Wn.App.2d 8, 418 P.3d 804 (Div. 3,
2018)
Denison v. Gorman, 2022 WL 2677513 (Unpublished Div. III,
July 12, 2022) 1, 10, 26
Dobbins v. Mendoza, 88 Wn.App. 862, 947 P.2d 1229 (Div. 3,
1997)
Friebe v. Supancheck, 98 Wn.App. 260, 992 P.2d 1014 (Div. 1,
1999)25, 28-29

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 599 P.2d 1289
(1979)11
Housing Autho. v. Newbigging, 105 Wn.App. 178, 19 P.3d
1081 (Div. 3, 1999)13
Jones v. Stebbins, 122 Wn.2d 471, 860 P.2d 1009 (1993)17
Larson v. State, 9 Wn.App.2d 730, 447 P.3d 168 (Div. 3, 2019)
Leda v. Whisnand, 150 Wn.App. 69, 207 P.3d 468 (Div. 1,
2009)18, 23
Lee v. W. Processing Co., 35 Wn.App. 466, 667 P.2d 638 (Div.
3, 1983)17-18, 26-27
Leen v. Demopolis, 62 Wn.App. 473, 815 P.2d 269 (Div. 1,
1991) 13, 22-23
Morin v. Burris, 160 Wn.2d 745, 161 P. 3d 956 (2007)
N. Commercial Co. v. E.J. Hermann Co., 22 Wn.App., 963, 593
P.2d 1332 (Div. 2, 1979)12

PETITION FOR REVIEW iv

Northwick v. Long, 192 Wn.App., 256, 364 P.3d 1067 (Div. 1,
2015)14, 16
Pfaff v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 103 Wn.App. 829, 14
P.3d 837 (Div. 2, 2000)25
Reynolds & Assocs v. Harmon, 193 Wn.2d 143, 437 P.3d 677
(2019)11, 27, 30
Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014)
White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968). 2, 9, 24-27
Williams v. Steamship Mut. Underwriting Ass'n, 45 Wn.2d 209,
273 P.2d 803 (1954)17
Woodruff v. Spence, 76 Wn.App. 207, 883 P.2d 936 (Div. 3,
1994)14, 16, 20, 23

STATUTES

50 USC § 3931	-8
RCW 4.28.080	18

PETITION FOR REVIEW v

RULES, REGULATIONS AND OTHER AUTHORITY

CR 4	
CR 60	
RAP 13.4(b)	

PETITION FOR REVIEW vi

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Theodore Denison, Martha Denison and Gwenever (Kira) Loren Sapier, plaintiffs in the trial court and appellants in the Court of Appeals, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision, designated in Part B of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Review is sought of *Denison v. Gorman*, Division III, No. 38208-7-III, unpublished, July 12, 2022 ("Decision"). See Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

No. 1: Does CR 60 govern vacation of default judgments?

No. 2: Did the Court of Appeals apply the wrong standard of review?

No. 3: Was service presumptively accomplished?

No. 4: Did Respondent prove insufficient service by clear and convincing evidence?

No. 5: Did the Court of Appeals err in applying the standards of CR 60(b)(1) and *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968) under CR 60(b)(5), where Defendant's motion to vacate was not brought within the one-year time limitations of CR 60(b)?

No. 6: Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the trial court's order vacating Plaintiff's orders of default and default judgment for equitable principles under CR 60(b)(11)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Statement of Facts.</u>

This dispute originates from a motor vehicle collision on November 26, 2018. CP 1-5, 478-480. On November 26, 2018, Plaintiff Theodore Denison was driving his vehicle north on Washington Street in Spokane, Washington. CP 1-5, 223, 229. Plaintiffs, Martha Denison and Kira Sapier, were passengers in Mr. Denison's vehicle. CP 1-5, 223, 229. At the intersection of 1st Avenue and Washington Street, Plaintiffs came to a stop for a red light. CP 1-5, 223, 229.

While Plaintiffs were stopped, Defendant, Spencer Gorman, who was also traveling north on Washington, failed to stop and collided with the rear of Plaintiffs' vehicle. CP 1-5, 223, 229, 478-480. Defendant admitted liability. CP 1-5, 223, 229, 478-480, RP.

Plaintiffs were injured in the collision. CP 17-212, 223-234. After completing care, settlement demands were mailed to Defendant's insurance company, State Farm, on June 18, 2019. CP 422, 437-440. Plaintiffs' counsel informed the State Farm adjuster that the settlement offers made to Plaintiffs were not acceptable. CP 422, 437-440, RP.

B. <u>Statement of Procedure.</u>

On October 5, 2019, Defendant was served via substitute service at his home. CP 12-13, 442-445. Plaintiffs filed suit on October 23, 2019. CP 1-5. After no answer or notice of appearance, Plaintiffs made a motion for default and default judgment. CP 6-212. An evidentiary hearing was held in Spokane Superior Court on December 13, 2019. CP 422-23, 438-440. The three default judgments were entered in favor of Plaintiffs on January 3, 2020. CP 245-250.

On January 8, 2021, Plaintiffs' requested payments on the judgments from State Farm. CP 422-23, 438-440. On January 27, 2021, Plaintiffs' counsel received a call from Defendant's counsel, Gary Luloff. CP 422-23, 438-440. Mr. Luloff asked Plaintiffs to set aside the judgments. CP 422-23, 438-440. Mr. Luloff indicated he had not yet spoken to Defendant, but that State Farm was going to try and void coverage should Defendant admit to having not cooperated by ignoring service. CP 422-23, 438-440. Defendant and his mother later signed declarations drafted by Mr. Luloff's office stating they had never been served. CP 293-298, 351-356.

Thereafter, Defendant filed a motion to set aside the January 3, 2020 orders of default and default judgments. CP 251-252. The motion to set aside was made approximately fifteen months after the default order was entered, over fourteen months after the default judgments were entered and approximately two months after Defendant was notified of the default judgments. CP 213-14, 245-250, 251-252, 422-23, 438-440.

Defendant's motion requested relief for approximately eleven reasons, including CR 60(b)(1), (2), (4), (5) and CR (11), as well as the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (SCRA) 50 USC § 3931(b)(1)(A). CP 253-284.

In his motion to vacate, Defendant argued service was improper because the process server's registration had expired, and because the process server did not endorse the summons. CP 253-284, RP. Defendant argued he was not served, because he and his mother did not remember receiving service, and because, according to their assertions, they would have notified State Farm had they been served. CP 253-284, 293-298, 351-356. Defendant argued numerous other reasons and requested that the order of default and default judgments

be vacated under CR 60(b)(1) and CR 60(b)(11). CP 253-284, 471-476, RP.

Plaintiffs' response brief to Defendant's Motion to Vacate included a new declaration from the process server, Melvin Miller. CP 442-443. Mr. Miller's supplemental declaration stated he, "personally served a true copy of the SUMMONS, and COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES in this matter upon a person of suitable age and discretion who identified themselves as being a resident at the usual place of Defendant's abode... " CP 442-443. Mr. Miller declared the person he served, identified herself as "Jennie" and as Defendant's mother. CP 442-443. Mr. Miller's declaration continued that he recognized Defendant's mother from her Facebook page, and that she was the person he served by personally handing her an envelope containing the summons and complaint. CP 442-443, lines 4, 13 and 15 of Declaration of Melvin Miller.

Plaintiffs requested an evidentiary hearing should the Court determine further development to be necessary. CP 436. This request was denied. CP 481-483, RP.

A hearing was held on March 26, 2021. CP 477, 481-483, RP. The court noted it did not read Defendant's memorandum after page fifteen as a penalty for exceeding the page limit. RP at 4:1-3. Defendant's argument of insufficient service began on page fifteen. CP 253-284. No argument regarding insufficient service, except process servers being required to register, was in the first fifteen pages of Defendant's memorandum. CP 253-284.

During the March 26, 2021 hearing, the trial court commented it was not convinced Defendant was *not* served, but found there to be irregularities in the proof of service documents. RP pages 26-27. The trial court held under CR 60(b)(2) that a guardian or guardian ad litem should have been appointed to Defendant. CP 481-483, RP at 24:21–27:16. The trial court also held that the requirements of the SCRA

were not met under 50 USC § 3931(b)(1)(A). CP 481-483, RP at 24:5-20, 27:3-16.

In summary, the trial court abused its discretion by granting Defendant's motion to vacate. The one-year time restrictions were ignored. The requirements for vacating under the SCRA were ignored, and CR 60(b)(11) was used as an end run around of these requirements to grant vacation, when no individual issue justified vacating the order of default or default judgments.

C. <u>Superior Court Verbatim Report of Proceedings.</u>

The verbatim report of proceedings (RP) provides the Court with the trial court's explanation for granting Defendant's motion to vacate. The trial court was concerned that the process server's license had lapsed. RP at 23:12. The trial court stated that Defendant and his mother denied receiving service, so how was the Court supposed to know what happened. RP at 23:17-21. The trial court applied the incorrect standard. To prevail under this theory, Defendant was required to prove improper service by clear and convincing evidence. The trial court made no such finding; instead stating, "i'm not 100 percent certain that I can find there was proper service." RP at 27:9-10.

Despite being outside the one-year timeframe, the trial court addressed the four *White v. Holm* factors under CR 60(b)(1). RP at 26:16-20. The trial court then went onto conclude,

[b]ut I think based upon all of the irregularities here and the issues with service -- and I'm not 100 percent certain that I can find there was proper service -- but there are also some credibility issues with regard to the process server; there's certainly an issue with regard to the Soldiers and Sailors Act; and there's certainly an issue with Mr. Gorman being a minor and not having the benefit of the guardian ad litem. So for all of those reasons, I am going to vacate the default order as well as the default judgment.

RP at 27:8-16

D. <u>Court of Appeals.</u>

On July 12, 2012, the Washington Court of Appeals,

Division III affirmed the trial court's ruling. The Court of

Appeals ruled that CR 60(b)(5) and equitable principles were proper bases on which to vacate the default judgments, not addressing Gorman's other arguments. *See Denison v. Gorman*, 2022 WL 2677513, at *2 (Div. III, July 12, 2022). The Court of Appeals ruled that default judgments are not governed by CR 60, but rather by equitable principles, and that the provisions of CR 60(b)(1) may be used to vacate judgments even after one year based upon overarching equitable principles at the discretion of a trial court judge. *Id.* at 10.

IV. REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the following considerations for review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Appellants seek review under subsections (1), (2) and (4).

A. The decision below conflicts with this Court's decisional law and other decisions by the Court of Appeals.

1. CR 60 Applies to Default Judgments

This Court has already decided that setting aside defaults is governed by CR 60(b). The Court of Appeals erroneously held that where a judgment is a default judgment, relief is governed not by CR 60, but by equitable principles. *Id.* The Court of Appeals cited to *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty*, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 582, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979) for this proposition. Not only does *Griggs* not stand for this proposition, but the Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with well-established law.

CR 55(c) states that "for good cause shown and on terms the court deems just, the court may set aside default in accordance with CR 60(b)." *See Reynolds & Assocs v.*

Harmon, 193 Wn.2d 143, 160, 437 P.3d 677 (2019). Relief
from judgments and orders in both civil and criminal cases is
governed by CR 60(b). *Burlingame v. Consol. Mines & Smelting Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 328, 336, 722 P.2d 67 (1986).
Furthermore, "[a]ny motion to vacate is governed by CR 60." *N. Commercial Co. v. E.J. Hermann Co.*, 22 Wn.App. 963,
972, 593 P.2d 1332, (Div. 2, 1979).

The Court of Appeals cited *Morin v. Burris*, 160 Wn.2d 745, 754, 161 P. 3d 956 (2007). While *Morin* does state that courts do not favor default judgments, *Morin* goes onto state that "if a judgment by default has been entered, may likewise set it aside in accordance with rule 60(b)." *Morin v. Burris*, 160 Wn.2d 745, 754, 161 P. 3d 956 (2007). CR 60 sets out specific grounds upon which a party may apply to set aside a default judgment. *Id.* The Court of Appeals erroneously ruled that the vacation of default judgments is not governed by CR 60, but by equitable principles.

2. Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals also applied the incorrect standard of review. Generally, a trial court's order on a motion to vacate is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Larson v. State*, 9 Wn.App.2d 730, 744, 447 P.3d 168 (Div. 3, 2019), *review denied*, 194 Wn.2d 1019 (2020). Among other things, discretion is abused when it is based on untenable grounds, such as a misunderstanding of law. *Id* at 703; *see also Housing Autho. v. Newbigging*, 105 Wn.App. 178, 185, 19 P.3d 1081 (Div. 3 1999).

Courts, however, have "a nondiscretionary duty to vacate void judgments." *Leen v. Demopolis*, 62 Wn.App. 473, 478, 815 P.2d 269 (Div. 1, 1991). CR 60(b)(5) permits a court to vacate a judgment if the judgment is void. Therefore, a decision whether to vacate a judgment for voidness is reviewed de novo. *Ahten v. Barnes*, 158 Wn.App. 343, 350, 242 P.3d 35 (Div. 1, 2010) (*quoting Dobbins v. Mendoza*, 88 Wn.App. 862, 871, 947 P.2d 1229 (Div. 3, 1997)). The

sufficiency of service of process and therefore, the arguments made under CR 60(b)(5) in this case, are reviewed de novo. *Scanlan v. Townsend*, 181 Wn.2d 838, 847, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014), *Northwick v. Long*, 192 Wn.App. 256, 260, 364 P.3d 1067 (Div. 1, 2015). The Court of Appeals erred when it applied an abuse of discretion standard of review instead of de novo to CR 60(b)(5) determinations.

Furthermore, a trial court's denial of a request for an evidentiary hearing is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Northwick* at 260. A court may abuse its discretion by failing to hold an evidentiary hearing when affidavits present an issue of fact whose resolution requires a determination of witness credibility. *Woodruff v. Spence*, 76 Wn.App. 207, 210, 883 P.2d 936 (Div. 3, 1994).

3. Service Was Accomplished

As mentioned above, whether service was accomplished is reviewed de novo. *Scanlan*, at 847; *Dobbins*, at 871; *Northwick*, at 260. The trial court never ruled service was invalid in this case. The trial court found the process server's statement in his second declaration, that he served the summons and complaint in an envelope to be "problematic." RP. at 22:12-19. The trial court also found it "problematic" that the process server's registration had lapsed, even though he met the qualifications for service. RP at p. 23:12-14. The trial court used insufficient service as an afterthought to vacate Plaintiffs' order of default and default judgments under CR 60(b)(11), stating only "I'm not 100 percent certain that I can find there was proper service." RP at 27:9-12.

The Court of Appeals, however, ruled that an inference could be made that the trial court found clear and convincing evidence that service did not take place. The Court of Appeals stated that such a determination by the trial court was not an abuse of discretion. The Court of Appeals erred by not making a de novo determination of whether Defendant proved insufficient service by clear and convincing evidence.

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that Defendant

did not need to show lack of service by clear and convincing evidence. This is also contrary to well established precedent.

In Castellon v. Rodriguez, 4 Wn.App.2d 8, 16-17, 418, P.3d 804 (Div. 3, 2018), Division III held that "[t]he party attacking the sufficiency of the service carries the burden to show by clear and convincing proof that it was improper." In Castellon, Division III cited Northwick, v. Long, 192 Wn.App. 256, 261, 364 P.3d 1067 (Div. 1, 2015) and the Supreme Court case of Allen v. Starr, 104 Wn. 246, 247, 176 P. 2 (1918), which states, "[a]fter judgment the burden is upon the person attacking the service to show, by clear and convincing proof, that the service was irregular." (emphasis added). Division III, in the case of Woodruff v. Spence, supra, also held that "[a]n affidavit of service is presumptively correct, and the challenging party bears the burden of showing improper service by clear and convincing evidence." Woodruff, at 210. It is clear that the burden of proving insufficient service had shifted to Defendant in this case.

Division III improperly relied on *Lee v. W. Processing Co.*, 35 Wn.App. 466, 469, 667 P.2d 638 (Div. 3, 1983) for the proposition that Plaintiffs did not meet their initial burden because the affidavit of service was not endorsed or attached to the summons as required by CR 4(g)(2).

The Supreme Court, however, has made it clear that a lack of an endorsement does not invalidate service.

"But, failure to make proof of service does not affect the validity of the service." CR 4(g)(7). A "lack of return of service [neither] deprive[s] a court of jurisdiction, nor does it affect the validity of the service." *Jones v. Stebbins*, 122 Wn.2d 471, 482, 860 P.2d 1009 (1993).

Scanlan v. Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 848, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014).

The proper remedy though "is to amend the return rather than to declare the judgment void." *Lee* at 470 (quoting *Williams v. Steamship Mut. Underwriting Ass 'n*, 45 Wn.2d 209, 273 P.2d 803 (1954)). *Lee* is a very narrow decision where the proper remedy was only ignored on appeal, because the plaintiff did not raise this issue to the trial court. *Id.* In the case at hand, Plaintiffs did argue before the trial court that lack of return of service did not affect the validity of service.

Furthermore, *Lee* has been distinguished on this issue. In *Leda v. Whisnand*, 150 Wn.App. 69, 207 P.3d 468 (Div. 1, 2009) the Court of Appeals also dealt with service documents containing discrepancies in the dates. Regarding the application of *Lee*, Division 1 stated, "in *Lee* we found proof of service to be insufficient in that case because there existed a raft of evidence beyond the inconsistent dates demonstrating that service had not actually been made." *Leda* at 86.

Here, the Court of Appeals extended its reasoning far beyond the express holding of *Lee* requiring Plaintiffs to speculate why Defendant never informed his insurer that he had been served. CR 4(c) specifies service may be accomplished by anyone who is competent, over 18 years of age, and not a party. *Scanlan v. Townsend*, 181 Wn.2d 838, 850, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014); CR (4)(c). Under RCW 4.28.080(16), service on an individual, requires service be

made upon: "the defendant personally, or by leaving a copy of the summons at the house of his or her usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein." Here, Defendant's mother met that criteria and she was at Defendant's abode, where she resided. All elements of service were met. Whether the process server's registration was up to date is irrelevant.

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