FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/2/2022 1:00 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON No. 1011423

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
No. 382087

THEODORE DENISON, MARTHA DENISON and GWENEVER (KIRA) LOREN SAPIER PLAINTIFFS/APPELANTS

v.

SPENCER GORMAN,

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT

Respondent's Answer to Appellants' Petition for Review to the Supreme Court.

Gary R. Luloff, WSBA #20287 Attorney for Respondent Wagner, Luloff & Adams, PLLC 2010 W Nob Hill Blvd., Ste. 2 Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 248-5010

I. Identity of Respondent
II. Statement of the Case1
III. Argument
1. A motion to vacate an order of default and default
judgment is equitable in nature and relief is to be
afforded in accordance with equitable principles 6
2. The Court of Appeals' decision in this action does
not conflict with a prior decision of the Superior
Court or Court of Appeals7
3. The Court of Appeals reviewed the evidence underlying
Gorman's motion to vacate order of default and default
judgments de novo and any error referencing an abuse of
discretion standard is harmless 8
4. The Court of Appeals Determined that Plaintiffs Failed
to Meet its Initial Burden to Present Prima Facia Proof
of Sufficient Service of Process8

5. T	This Action Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial
]	Public Interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4)16
6. T	The Court of Appeals Did not Rule on Defendant's
A	rguments Under CR 60(b)(11)16
IV. Concl	usion16

TABLE OF AUTORITIES

PAGES

CASES

Ahten v. Barnes, 158 Wn. App 343, 349, 242 P.3d 35 (Div 1 2010)
10
Coughlin v. Jenkins, 102 Wn.App 60, 65, 7 P.3d 818 (2000)9, 10
Dennison v. Gorman, 2022 WL 2677513 (Unpublished Div. III, July
12, 2022)
Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 581, 599 P.2d
1289 (1979)6, 7
Gross v. Sunding, 139 Wn.App 54, 60, 161 P.3d 380 (2007) 10
Leda V. Whisnand, 150 Wn.App. 69, 207, P.3d 468 (2009)11
Lee v. Western Processing Co., Inc., 35 Wn.App 466, 469-70, 667
P.2d 638 (1983)7, 15
White v. Holm. 73 Wn.2d 348, 351, 438 P.2d 581 (1968)6, 7
Woodruff v. Spence, 76 Wn.App 207, 210, 883 P.2d 936(1994)11
STATUTES
50 USC §3931(b)(1)6

RAP 13.4(b)(4)......16

I. IDENTIFY OF RESPONDENT

Spencer Gorman, Defendant in the Superior Court action and Respondent in the Division III of the Court of Appeals, requests this court to deny review of the Court of Appeals' Decision.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff commenced this action by filing a Summons and Complaint in Spokane County Superior Court on October 23, 2019. CP 12. Plaintiff filed a Motion for Default on November 19, 2019. CP 6. The Order of Default states that service was accomplished on August 18, 2019. CP 6. Attached to the Motion for Default was the Declaration of Thomas Farrell in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Default. Mr. Farrell's declaration states that Defendant was served on August 18, 2019. Mr. Farrell's declaration is dated November 19, 2019. CP 10.

Attached as an exhibit to the Motion for Default was a Declaration of Service. The Declaration of Service was prepared by Farrell Law Office. The Declaration of Service was signed by Melvin Miller on October 10, 2019. Mr. Miller's declaration states that defendant was served on October 5, 2019. CP 12-13.

Counsel for plaintiffs filed a Motion for Default Judgment on November 19, 2019. The Motion for Default Judgment on Defendant states that Defendant was served on August 18, 2019. CP 17. Attached to the Motion for Default Judgment is a second declaration completed by Plaintiffs' counsel in support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Default Judgment dated November 19, 2019. CP 22-25. The second declaration of Mr. Farrell states that Defendant was served on August 18, 2019. CP 23; CP 10. The declaration in support of Default Judgment also requested costs, including fees for service of process totaling seventy-five dollars (\$75.00). CP 24.

The first hearing on the Motion for Order of Default and Default Judgment was held on December 13, 2019. The Order of Default references that Defendant was "properly served on August 18, 2019." CP 213. The Order of Default was entered by the Spokane County Superior Court on December 13, 2019. CP 214.

A subsequent hearing was held on Plaintiffs' Motion for Entry of Default Judgment. That hearing was held on January 3, 2020. Counsel filed additional memoranda and declarations in support of the

motion for default judgment. The Memorandum in Support of Default Judgment states that Defendant was served on August 18, 2019. CP 215. Counsel for the Dennison's filed his third declaration in support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Default Judgment. The third declaration states that Defendant was served on August 18, 2019. CP 240. The court entered three default judgments against Mr. Gorman on January 3, 2020. The judgments do not reference the date of service. CP 245-250.

Mr. Gorman's insurer, State Farm, learned of the Default Judgments through correspondence from Plaintiffs' counsel on January 8, 2021. Plaintiffs' counsel again referenced in his correspondence to State Farm that Mr. Gorman was served on August 18, 2019. CP 306.

Defendant Gorman moved to set aside the default judgments on March 8, 2021. CP 251.

In opposition to the Motion to Vacate Order of Default and Default Judgments, counsel for Plaintiffs filed another declaration

dated March 12, 2021. CP 417-418. Counsel again states that Mr. Gorman was served on August 18, 2019. CP 417; CP 440; CP 438.

Counsel for Plaintiff filed a second declaration from the Process Server, Mr. Miller, dated March 12, 2021. The process server stated he was unaware he was not licensed as a process server. CP 442. Mr. Miller's declaration states that he served Defendant Gorman on October 5, 2019. CP 442. The process server stated that he served Mr. Gorman's mother with an envelope. CP 443.

Judge Moreno of the Spokane County Superior Court held a hearing on Defendant's Motion to Vacate Order of Default and Default Judgments on March 26, 2021. RP at 5-8; 7-9; CP 477.

The Judge made an oral ruling at the time of the hearing. Judge Moreno was concerned about the number of irregularities by counsel in obtaining the default judgments against Mr. Gorman. RP 21:17. Judge Moreno considered the service of process argument on behalf of Mr. Gorman. The court stated there were various irregularities in the statements regarding the service of process by plaintiffs' counsel as well as conflicting Affidavits of Service filed by the process server,

Mr. Miller. RP. 22-24. Judge Moreno referenced the conflicting affidavits filed by Mr. Miller indicating he served the Summons and Complaint and that he served "Jenny" Gorman with an "envelope." RP 22-23. Judge Moreno referred to the conflicting dates of service in the multiple declarations. RP 22-23.

The process server initially stated that Gorman was served on October 5, 2019. RP 22. Judge Moreno referred to the fact that the process server was not validly licensed. RP 23. Judge Moreno stated that she was concerned about the credibility of the process server with regard to if or when service of process occurred. RP 24.

Judge Moreno ruled that based upon all of the irregularities, the issues with service of process, and the fact that she could not conclude that there was proper service on Mr. Gorman, that she vacated the Order of Default and the Default Judgments. RP 27.

The written order vacating default and default judgments was signed and entered by Judge Moreno on April 16, 2021. CP 481-483.

Counsel for Plaintiffs did not propose an alternative order or make any argument in opposition to Defendant's proposed order.

The Order Vacating the Order of Default states that Mr. Gorman failed to appear or answer because of improper and inadequate service on Mr. Gorman, lack of actual notice to the defendant, including irregularities in proof of service, failure to meet the requirements 50 USC § 3931(b)(1) and failure to appoint a guardian ad litem for Mr. Gorman. CP 482.

Judge Moreno found that Mr. Gorman had a meritorious defense to Plaintiffs' claims, that Mr. Gorman acted with due diligence after notice of entry of the default judgments, and that Plaintiffs would not suffer substantial hardship if the default judgments were set aside and Mr. Gorman was allowed to appear and answer. CP 482.

III. ARGUMENT

1. A Motion to Vacate an Order of Default and Default Judgment is Equitable in Nature and Relief is to be Afforded in Accordance with Equitable Principles

Relief from a default judgment is governed by equitable principles. However, the grounds and procedures to put those principles into effect are governed by CR 60(b). White v. Holm, 73

Wn.2d 348, 351, 438 P.2d 58-82 (1968); Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wn.2d 576, 581, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979).

The Court of Appeals applied and used an equitable analysis under CR 60(b)(5) in the *Lee v. Western Processing Inc.* action.

The Court of Appeals in *Lee v. Western Processing, Co., Inc.*, 35 Wn.App 466, 667 P.2d 638 (1983) specifically sites to the equitable test under the *White v. Holm* matter and *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty* matter. See, *Lee v. Western Processing, Co., Inc.*, 35 Wn.App. 466, 468, 667 P.2d 638 (1983). The *White v. Holm* factors apply to each subsection under CR 60(b).

Plaintiffs did not dispute that Gorman met the first, third and fourth factors of the *White v. Holm* test in the trial court or the Court of Appeals.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision in this Action Does Not Conflict with a Prior Decision of the Superior Court or Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the facts underlying Defendant's Motion to Vacate the Order of Default and Default Judgments de

novo and did not apply an abuse of discretion analysis to Judge

Moreno's decision.

3. The Court of Appeals Reviewed the Evidence Underlying Gorman's Motion to Vacate Order of Default and Default Judgments de novo and any Error Referencing an Abuse of Discretion Standard is Harmless

The Court of Appeals in Dennison v. Gorman, Division III, No.

38208-7 III, unpublished, July 12, 2022 references an abuse of discretion standard at page 11. However, review of the Court's decision indicates that it applied a de novo review analysis to the facts underlying Gorman's Motion to Vacate Order of Default and Default Judgments. The Court of Appeals reviewed the evidence submitted through declarations by both parties at length and came to its own conclusion that Defendant Gorman was not properly served. Review of the Court of Appeals' decision shows no deference to the Superior Court's reasoning in this action. *Dennison v. Gorman*, pages 10-21. Any error in referring to an abuse of discretion standard as opposed to de novo review is harmless.

4. The Court of Appeals Determined that Plaintiffs Failed to Meet its Initial Burden to Present Prima Facia Proof of Sufficient Service of Process

Plaintiffs confuse the issues of whether or not service of process is invalid with the presumption that arises when an affidavit regular in form and substance is filed. Plaintiff never filed an Affidavit of Service in proper form or substance sufficient to create the presumption of valid service. In the absence of an Affidavit in proper form and substance, there is no presumption of validity. See, Coughlin v. Jenkins, 102 Wn.App. 60, 65, 7 P.3d 818 (2000). In the absence of a presumption, plaintiffs had the burden to establish service on Defendant Gorman. Plaintiffs' efforts to amend the Affidavits of Service only created additional discrepancies. Plaintiffs never offered sufficient proof of valid of service on Defendant Gorman. As a result, both the trial court and Court of Appeals concluded that the judgments were void under CR 60(b)(5).

Plaintiffs filed multiple conflicting declarations of service. The original Declaration of Service was not regular in form or substance. The subsequent declarations that were filed contained additional irregularities and defects that were never fully cured. As a result, the Court of Appeals concluded that the burden never shifted to Gorman.

Proper service of the Summons and Complaint is essential to evoke personal jurisdiction over a party, and a default judgment entered without proper jurisdiction is void. *Ahten v. Barnes*,158 Wn.App 343, 349, 242 P.3d 35 (Div 1 2010). The Court has a nondiscretionary duty to vacate void judgments. A trial court's decision to grant or deny a CR 60(b) motion to vacate a judgment for want of jurisdiction is reviewed de novo. *Ahten* at 350. There is no time limit to bring a motion to vacate a default judgment that is void. *Ahten* at 350.

When a defendant challenges service of process, the plaintiff has the initial burden of proof to establish a prima facie case for service. Gross v. Sunding, 139 Wn.App 54, 60, 161 P.3d 380 (2007). To be sufficient, service must be accomplished according to the required statutory procedure. A plaintiff can establish a prima facie case by providing a declaration of a process server, regular in form and substance. State ex rel. Coughlin v. Jenkins, 102 Wn.App 60, 65, 7 P.3d 818 (2000). An affidavit of service in proper form and substance is presumed valid. There is no presumption of validity if the affidavit is not in proper form or substance. See, Coughlin at 65. If the

Plaintiffs file a proper Affidavit establishing service then the burden then shifts to the defendant to show by clear and convincing evidence that service was improper. Woodruff v. Spence, 76 Wn.App 207, 210, 883 P.2d 936(1994).

Plaintiff relies on *Leda V. Whisnand*, 150 Wn.App. 69, 207, P.3d 468 (2009). In *Leda*, the Court of Appeals was unable to determine whether or not Defendant's claim that there were inconsistent dates on the notices had merit because of the lack of a record before the court on the issue. The Court distinguished *Leda* from *Lee v. Western Processing, Co., Inc.* on the basis that in *Lee* there was evidence of discrepancies in the dates on the documents in addition to evidence of lack of service. *Leda* at 86.

Plaintiff never served Mr. Gorman. To establish proper service of process in this action, plaintiff was required to show proper substitute service, with an affidavit proper in form and substance. Plaintiff failed to file an Affidavit of Service in proper form and substance.

Counsel for Plaintiff filed a declaration in support of the Order of Default stating Defendant was served on August 18, 2019. CP 9.

The Declaration of Service was not attached to the Summons or endorsed on the Summons. CP 1-2. The Order of Default entered on December 13, 2019 presented by Plaintiffs' counsel, states that Defendant was properly served on August 18, 2019. CP 213-14. Plaintiffs' Motion for Order of Default against Mr. Gorman states he was served on August 18, 2019. CP 6-7. Mr. Farrell's declaration in Support of the Motion for Default states that Mr. Gorman was served on August 18, 2019. CP 9-10. The declaration of service signed by Melvin Miller is dated October 10, 2019. This declaration states that he served a "Ms. Gorman" on October 5, 2019. CP 12. Counsel filed another declaration also dated November 19, 2019 in support of the default judgments stating that service on Mr. Gorman was accomplished on August 18, 2019. CP 22-25. Mr. Farrell filed another declaration dated January 3, 2020 stating that Mr. Gorman was served on August 18, 2019. CP 240-244.

After becoming aware of the Default Judgments in January 2021, Defendant moved to vacate the Order of Default and Default Judgments, and filed supporting declarations of Spencer Gorman, CP 293-296, his mother, Jennifer Duncan, CP 351-354, and the

declaration of State Farm Claim Specialist, Stephanie Buchli. CP 299-304. The declarations unequivocally state that Mr. Gorman was not served and his mother, Jennifer Duncan, was not served through substitute service.

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